STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jul 13 2023

CERTIORARI TO RICHLAND COUNTY
R. Knox McMahon, Trial Judge
George M. McFaddin, Jr., PCR Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2022-001409

ANTHONY PORTERFIELD,

RESPONDENT,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DON ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

DANIELLE DIXON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 73999

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I. Does the portion of the Order granting relief contain adequate findings of facts and conclusions of law as required by Section 17-27-70 of the South Carolina Code?

II. Does probative evidence support the PCR court's finding that counsel was ineffective in cross-examining and impeaching the victims when (1) trial counsel employed a valid strategy for impeaching the child-victims' identification of Respondent and effectively cross-examined them, and (2) Respondent did not enter evidence of any statement that could have been used for further impeachment of any of the victims?

III. Does probative evidence support the PCR court's finding that counsel was ineffective in responding to the solicitor's unexpected use of Respondent's laptop bag when (1) Respondent never articulated the objection he believed counsel should have made, (2) counsel formulated a reasonable strategy to counteract the solicitor's unexpected use of Respondent's bag, and (3) it is not reasonably likely the solicitor's use of Respondent's ubiquitous, common black laptop bag changed the outcome of trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Respondent Anthony Porterfield is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections serving a thirty-year sentence. In October 2012, the Richland County Grand Jury indicted Respondent for two counts of kidnapping (2012-GS-40-5294, 2012-GS-40-5297), one count of first-degree burglary (2012-GS-40-5295), and one count of armed robbery (2012-GS-40-5296). These charges arose from a home invasion and robbery of Gulzar Nathani's home-business.

On February 23, 2015, Respondent proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable R. Knox McMahan. Anastasia Walker and Robert Bank, Esquires, represented Respondent. Assistant Solicitors Luck Campbell and Meghan Walker prosecuted the case. On February 27, 2015, the jury found Respondent guilty as indicted. Judge McMahan sentenced Respondent to concurrent terms of thirty years' imprisonment for each offense.

Respondent filed a direct appeal. Appellate Defender Susan B. Hackett filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), arguing the court erred in allowing the solicitor to question witnesses regarding Respondent not calling an alibi and argue during closing about the alibi witness's absence, which unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof. The Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal pursuant to Anders, and the remittitur was sent on April 21, 2017.

On December 14, 2017, Respondent filed this application for post-conviction relief (PCR). On May 24-26, 2022, an evidentiary hearing convened before the Honorable George M. McFaddin, Jr. Lir Patrick Derig represented Respondent, and Assistant Attorney General Scott Matthews represented the State. On August 17, 2022, the PCR court issued an order granting Respondent relief on two grounds and denying relief on all other grounds. Petitioner filed a timely motion for reconsideration pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, and a memo in support of its motion.

On September 26, 2022, the PCR court issued an order denying Petitioner’s motion to reconsider. This petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

Brief Summary of Pertinent Trial Testimony

At trial, the State presented evidence that Respondent and another unidentified man robbed Gulzar Nathani’s home on June 27, 2012. Nathani’s daughters, Rabia and S.N.,¹ were home when the robbery occurred. At trial, Rabia testified she and S.N. were returning from Chick-fil-A when they noticed a car parked in their driveway. (App. 196). Rabia described the car as “a sedan, gold or champagne.” (App. 203, 212). She testified she recognized one of the men as “Amp,” who did business with her father. (App. 194-95, 199). Rabia testified Amp asked to talk to her dad, who wasn’t home, so she and her sister went inside to get the phone. (App. 199-200). She testified,

When I was standing by the door holding it open, he was standing by his car. But then he came upstairs and he had a bag in his—like a laptop bag in his hand.

....

And he took out the gun. And I saw the gun. I was trying to close the door, but—

(App. 200-01). Rabia clarified Amp was the person who pulled out the gun. (App. 201). She stated Amp forced his way into the house and held them at gunpoint in a hallway for what felt like fifteen or twenty minutes. (App. 201-03). Rabia stated she called 911 after the men left; she later spoke to Investigator Joseph Clarke and identified Respondent from a photographic lineup.² (App. 205-07). During her testimony, Rabia identified Respondent in court as the perpetrator. (App. 208-09). During cross-examination, the following exchange occurred:

Q Okay. And you remember there is two black males in the car?

¹ In its order, the PCR court refers to Rabia as “Child 1” and S.N. as “Child 2.”

² Investigator Clarke testified Rabia and S.N. both identified Respondent as Amp from photographic lineups. (App. 460, 464-71).

A Yes

Q Okay. And the driver gets out?

A Yes.

Q He has a laptop? Or a laptop bag?

A Yes. At first he was standing on our porch by the door when we parked. When we get out he came down—he came downstairs. And he was like, he wants to talk to my dad. And I told him that my dad is at the flea market.

And he—then me and my sister went inside the house to get the phone. Then he had the laptop bag. He—yes, then he had the laptop bag.

Q So did he go back to the car?

A Yes.

Q At some point?

A Yes.

Q Okay. So when you drive up he is already standing at the door?

A Yes.

Q And then you say he goes back to the car?

A Yes.

Q And then has the laptop bag?

A Yes.

(App. 213-14). She agreed that once they went inside, the other man held them at gunpoint while Amp removed items from the home. (App. 216). She further agreed she called her father before calling 911, she was very scared, and she did not have glasses at that time although she wore them at the time of trial. (App. 210, 217). Likewise, Rabia agreed she told 911 the car was a gold sedan

and both men were customers of her father, but she did not identify the perpetrator by the name Amp during the 911 call. (App. 218-21). Later, the following exchange occurred:

Q . . . Do you remember walking in a courtroom like this about two weeks ago?

A Yes.

Q And do you remember speaking with your sister as you were walking into the courtroom?

. . . .

A I'm not sure.

Q Do you recall having doubts [about] being able to pick out Anthony Porterfield as the person?

A Oh. We—it [had] been a long time we didn't see him.

Q Uh-huh.

A But once when—the first time I saw him I could recognize it was him. It was just that his hair style was different other—before. Now it is different. So we were confused a little bit.

(App. 220-21). She agreed her father told her “his name was Amp.” (App. 227). When asked, “And that is the reason you knew his name was Amp because your father told you?”, she replied, “Not only that—yes.” (App. 227).

S.N. testified she and Rabia were returning from Chick-fil-A when they saw a car with two black men in their driveway. (App. 233). S.N. described the car as a “golden,” “gold or champagne color” sedan—a “small car, four door.” (App. 234). As they were parking, S.N. testified one of the men was on the porch by their door; he came down the steps and spoke to them. (App. 235-37). S.N. testified she recognized the man as Amp—one of their father's customers; Amp asked to speak to their father, and Rabia told S.N. to get the phone. (App. 237-38, 240). S.N. stated Rabia was standing by the door when S.N. went inside to get the phone. (App. 239). She

testified, “I dialed my dad’s number and I was about to call when I saw the gun pointed at my sister. And he told me to put the phone down. So I did.” (App. 239). S.N. testified Amp gave the gun to the other man, who pointed it at the two girls while Amp took items from the home. (App. 241-42). S.N. testified the encounter lasted about ten to twenty minutes. (App. 243). After they heard the car speed away, S.N. called their father, who told them to call 911. (App. 243). S.N. did not recall whether she told police that day that Amp was the person who robbed them; she explained, “It was my sister talking to the cops.” (App. 244). However, she stated she told her father that Amp was the person who robbed them. (App. 247-28). S.N. testified she did not recognize the second person. (App. 244). She testified she identified Amp from a photo lineup; she also identified Respondent in court as the person who robbed her. (App. 245-46, 248-49).

On cross-examination, S.N. agreed her father was the person who told her the names of people he did business with. (App. 250). When asked whether the two men were in the car when she and Rabia returned, she replied, “Not—one was in the car and then the other one was like at the door.” (App. 250). S.N. agreed she was very scared. (App. 252). She could not recall whether she or Rabi called their father, but she recalled Rabia called 911. (App. 253). S.N. testified she did not give law enforcement a written statement. (App. 254).

Respondent testified in his defense. Additionally, he called five alibi witnesses to attempt to establish he was working at the time of the robbery. Respondent also called Dr. Dawn McQuiston, an expert in eyewitness identification and memory. (App. 890). Dr. McQuiston testified memory is “filled with gaps,” and individuals “naturally fill in [those gaps] with stuff from all kinds of sources.” (App. 891-92). She stated familiarity does not guarantee accuracy; rather, “people tend to think that they can remember the details of someone with whom they are familiar better than they really can,” and it can become problematic when a perpetrator looks

similar to a person the victim is familiar with. (App. 895-96). Dr. McQuiston averred individuals have a more difficulty identifying persons of a different race, and people are “less accurate in their identification when there is a weapon present versus when there is not.” (App. 896, 899-900).

Brief summary of PCR testimony

At the PCR hearing, Respondent testified he did not receive discovery until after he was convicted, and while reviewing discovery, he noticed inconsistent statements from Rabia and S.N. (App. 1184). Specifically, he testified that the day of the incident, Rabia and S.N. told Officer James Stone that they were at home when they heard something outside; they looked out the window and saw a man. (App. 1184, 1189). He testified the following day, Rabia and S.N. told police they were returning home from a restaurant when they noticed two guys sitting in a car in their driveway; however, they previously told law enforcement that Amp was standing outside the door. (App. 1185-86).

Respondent testified Rabia gave another statement on July 2, 2012, where she stated for the first time that they were returning from Chick-fil-A when they saw two black men sitting in a car; “one got out of the car and had a laptop bag in hand.” (App. 1192). Respondent stated that at trial Rabia and S.N. testified they were returning from Chick-fil-A when they noticed one guy at their door and one at the car. He further testified they did not testify about their first statement to Officer Stone (that they were home when the men showed up in their yard). Respondent recounted the differences between Rabia’s stories: initially, she said she was in the house when the men arrived; later, she said two black men were sitting in the car; and in a final statement provided to a private investigator, Detective B.G. Watkins, in August of 2012, Rabia said “she noticed one guy standing by the door and one guy in the car, she didn’t know which one.”³ (App. 1192).

³ Respondent entered Detective Watkins’ report as part of Exhibit 1. (App. 1562-63).

Respondent averred Rabia's story changed from the man "saying he wanted to come in to he wanted to see her daddy." (App. 1193). Finally, Respondent asserted the victims described the car as gold, whereas one of Respondent's witnesses at trial testified she drove a Champagne-colored Impala.

Respondent stated trial counsel did not cross-examine anyone about these inconsistent statements, and Deputy Stone was not called as a witness either by the State or the defense. (App. 1187-88). In support of this claim, Respondent entered as Exhibit 1 the incident report prepared by Officer Stone; Investigator Joe Clarke's investigative notes; Rabia's written statement dated July 2, 2012; Detective Watkins' Investigative Statement of an interview with Rabia, S.N., and Nathani on August 16, 2012; and a handwritten note listing various items and their value. (App. 1557-66).

In addition to inconsistencies with Rabia and S.N. statements, Respondent relayed that Nathani provided inconsistent statements about the value of stolen items. According to Respondent, on the day of the crime Nathani alleged he was missing four items valued at a total of \$2,000. However, "somewhere down the line after the investigation the father alleged that \$10,000—a little over \$10,000 worth of merchandise had been stolen from his home-based business." (App. 1191). Respondent stated Nathani handwrote these items on a sheet of notebook paper, but trial counsel did not cross-examine Nathani about the change in the value of stolen merchandise. (App. 1191-1202). Respondent also testified that Nathani testified at trial that Respondent never called him after the crime, "then he said yes, and then he said that yeah, he called a couple of days later saying that he didn't—he wasn't involved with anything, and which was really July 17th when I called him back." (App. 1193). Finally, Respondent stated Nathani told Investigator Watkins that he received a voicemail from Respondent on July 17, 2012, and

Detective Watkins listened to the voicemail.⁴ (App. 1193-94). He stated Nathani later lied and said he did not have the voicemail when “he did have it all the way up until August 16th.” (App. 1196). Respondent stated the jury never heard Nathani’s statement to Investigator Watkins; however, Respondent stated Investigator Watkins was deceased at the time of trial. (App. 1197).

Respondent also testified counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the State’s use of his laptop bag during its direct examination of Investigator Clarke. Respondent stated his girlfriend Diana had a vinyl black laptop bag that he took to court to carry paper and pens for trial, and Walker was aware he was taking the laptop bag to trial. (App. 1229). He averred one of the victims stated the perpetrator pulled a weapon from a laptop bag, but Respondent was not aware of that statement until trial. (App. 1227-28). Respondent contended counsel should have been aware that the victim said the perpetrator used a laptop bag. (App. 1229). He stated the solicitor asked Investigator Clarke if he was “aware that the victim said something to the nature of a laptop bag” and he responded yes. (App. 1231). The solicitor then asked Investigator Clarke if he was aware that Respondent had a black laptop bag during trial, and he responded yes. (App. 1231). Respondent stated the solicitor then picked up Respondent’s bag,

walked to the center of the court and she held it up and said is this the bag that you said the defendant had been bringing back and forth to trial and he said yes. She said is this the bag that looked like the victim has been alleging that the suspect had produced a weapon out of and he was like yes. And . . . she kept questioning him as if that was actually the bag in fact and she said is this the bag that the victims was talking about and he said yes. She walked around—and how this is so memorable is she looked in my eyes and she put it right back beside me and then they carried on, and it went without objection.

⁴ Detective Watkins’ report stated the caller (who sounded like Respondent) “question[ed] Mr. Nathani about having heard that the police wanted to question him and the caller [was] concerned that Mr. Nathani did not call him before calling the police and accusing him of the offense. (App. 1563).

(App. 1231).⁵ Respondent stated his uncle was sitting behind him at trial yelling “objection, objection” when the solicitor asked questions about the bag. He stated counsel told him, “I’ve got something for that, . . . we don’t have to object, your uncle’s making a big scene about it.” (App. 1235). Respondent stated prior to closing, counsel went to her office and collected random laptop bags to demonstrate how common laptop bags are. However, when she pulled them out during closing argument, the solicitor objected, and the judge instructed the jury not to consider the bags because they were inadmissible evidence. (App. 1236). On cross-examination, Respondent agreed the laptop bag he used at trial was a plain black, vinyl bag that did not have any identifying characteristics. (App. 1343). He further stated, “I’m assuming that was her trial strategy when she told me to just hold on or whatever like that,” but her tactic did not work. (App. 1345).

Respondent testified the transcript did not reflect the solicitor’s physical movements during that line of questioning. He also asserted she asked additional questions that were not in the transcript. (App. 1233-34). Respondent stated he wrote trial counsel about missing portions of the transcript, and counsel “wrote back and [said] I see where it’s missing out of the transcripts and that she admits it’s missing the physical actions.” (App. 1233-34). When asked on cross-examination what additional questions were not included in the transcript, Respondent replied,

[S]he spent some time, a little minute, asking the—Investigator Clarke is this, in fact, the bag that the victims said that the defendant had produced a handgun out of and he said yes, that’s the one right there, and she said does it look like this, is this the one, and she kept repeating that over and over and all the while while she was asking him she was holding it up high in the air and walking around, turning around in circles to explain it to the jury.

(App. 1344).

Dianna Addison testified she was engaged to Respondent at the time of trial, and he used

⁵ This line of questioning is on page 511 of the appendix.

her laptop bag at trial. (App. 1386-87). She stated she and Respondent did not live together when the crime occurred, and the “bag was in [her] possession the whole time.”⁶ (App. 1387).

Anastasia Walker testified she was appointed to represent Respondent at the end of 2013, and his trial occurred in February 2015. (Tr. 220). She testified the State’s primary evidence was the statements of Rabia and S.N. and their identification of Respondent from a lineup. (Tr. 222). Walker stated that as part of her regular practice she would have reviewed the witness statements with Respondent prior to trial. (Tr. 249). Walker recalled retaining an expert that testified about “[w]eapon blindness, cross-racial identification, and then issues regarding short-term and longterm memory.” (Tr. 225). Walker stated she emphasized in closing that although Rabia and S.N. had seen Respondent prior to this offense, their identification “was a misidentification based on this theory because they’d known him before but then experienced weapon blindness.” (Tr. 225).

Walker stated the value of the merchandise stolen would not go to an element of the offense, but inconsistencies in Nathani’s statement could have affected his credibility. (Tr. 222-24). Robert Bank, who assisted Walker in Respondent’s trial, agreed with Walker’s testimony that the value of items stolen did not go to an element of the crime, but inconsistencies in Nathani’s statement could have been used for impeachment. (Tr. 306, 309).

Walker testified Respondent used a laptop bag during trial. She recalled the solicitor grabbing Respondent’s bag and “essentially arguing that that laptop bag was like the one that had been used.” (Tr. 233, 279-80). Walker stated she was caught off guard and was not expecting the solicitor to grab Respondent’s bag. (Tr. 233-34). She stated she attempted to remedy the situation by showing that laptop bags are common, but the judge would not allow the additional bags to be

⁶ At Respondent’s trial, Addison likewise testified the bag belonged to her and Respondent did not have access to it in 2012. (App. 643-44).

used during her closing argument. (Tr. 234). Walker stated the victims only described the bag as a black laptop bag, and the bag itself was not a very big issue at trial prior to the solicitor making it an issue. (Tr. 234, 278).

Bank likewise stated he and Walker were both caught off-guard by the solicitor's use of Respondent's black laptop bag and recalled it was just a plain laptop bag. (Tr. 320). Bank testified Walker attempted to show the solicitor's argument was ridiculous with demonstrative evidence, but the judge did not allow it. (Tr. 321).

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