STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County

Honorable George M. McFaddin, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

PETITIONER

V.

ANTHONY MARKALE PORTERFIELD,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001409

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

Sep 25 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Certiorari should be denied because the PCR court's order adequately contained specific findings of fact and express conclusions of law.

The PCR court's final order in this case properly reflected the court's specific findings of fact and conclusions of law. The State cites § 17-27-70 in its petition for writ of certiorari as

²⁴ App. 1620 – 1621.

²⁵ App. 1616 – 1640; App. 1641 – 1656; App. 1657.

authority for the requirement that final PCR orders must contain specific findings of fact and conclusions of law. However, that is not what § 17-27-70 requires: § 17-27-70 instead deals with amendments to PCR applications and summary dismissal of PCR applications. However, § 17-27-80 requires that the PCR court's final order contain specific findings of fact and express conclusions of law. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80 (“If the court finds in favor of the applicant, it shall enter an appropriate order . . . The court shall make specific findings of fact, and state expressly its conclusions of law, relating to each issue presented. This order is a final judgment.”). The PCR court's final order in this case complied with § 17-27-80. The issues were thoroughly fleshed out in this exhaustive record and adequately addressed in the order.

Regarding the laptop issue, the State argues in its petition that it is unclear from the order 1) what comment the solicitor made that the PCR court found improper; 2) how this prejudiced Respondent; and 3) how an objection would have made it more likely an appellate court would reverse on appeal. *See* State's Petition for Writ of Certiorari (PWC) at 15 – 16. These arguments are refuted by the order. As to point 1), it is clear what the PCR court found objectionable. The order cited the transcript page number of the objectionable questions and answers, which were the solicitor's improper references to Respondent's laptop bag with Inv. Clarke. The order cited to page 501 of the trial transcript, which is where the solicitor questioned Inv. Clarke about Respondent's bag, walked over to defense counsel's table, picked up Respondent's bag, and showed it off to the jury. (*See* App. 505; App. 511.) These references sufficiently identified the comments the PCR court found were improper.

As to point 2), the PCR court's order expressly identified how Respondent was prejudiced. The court stated its basis for finding prejudice was because counsel's error allowed

Solicitor Campbell to elicit testimony from Inv. Clarke that: “Applicant’s laptop bag in court was the same laptop bag alleged to have been used in the crime.” App. 1621.

As to point 3), it is plain how an objection would have made it more likely an appellate court would reverse on appeal. An objection would have preserved the issue so the error could be corrected on direct appeal. The appellate courts of this state have strict error preservation rules. *See* Jean Hofer Toal et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 57 (3d ed. 2012) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.”); *State v. Brannon*, 388 S.C. 498, 697 S.E.2d 593 (2010) (Error preservation rules require a litigant to “fairly raise the issue to the trial court, thereby giving it an opportunity to rule on the issue.”). Absent a timely objection, the matter could not be addressed on direct appeal, as evidenced by Respondent’s counsel on direct appeal submitting a brief pursuant to *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), rather than a brief on the merits raising this issue. *See* App. 1097 – 1120.

Regarding the issue of counsel’s failure to expose prior inconsistent statements of the complainants, the State argues in its petition that the order was insufficient because the order does not set forth the inconsistencies in the victims’ statements or clarify the witnesses that counsel should have called to combat the inconsistent statements. *See* State’s PWC at 15. The order refutes this argument.

The order specifically identified which witnesses should have been cross-examined with their inconsistent statements (“the alleged victims and their father”), and noted that because they were not cross-examined, they could not be impeached. *See* App. 1620. Clearly the order referred to the inconsistencies about which there were extensive testimony at the hearing, and

about which exhibits were entered: 1) Counsel's failure to cross-examine Rabia and S.N. about the make and model of the perpetrators' car since Rabia told Deputy Stone the robbers drove a gold Hyundai Sonata but the State's theory of the case was that Respondent drove a gold Chevy Impala (and to put up Deputy Stone as a witness if Rabia denied this). 2) Counsel's failure to cross-examine Rabia and S.N. about whether they were already home when the perpetrators' arrived or whether they were just arriving home themselves when they noticed the perpetrators' car in the driveway (and to put up Deputy Stone as a witness if Rabia denied her earlier statement to him that the girls were already home). And, 3) Counsel's failure to cross-examine Nathani and the girls regarding the widely-varying dollar amounts they reported to the police of the items stolen (first it was \$2,000; later \$10,000), and to put up Deputy Stone and Inv. Clarke if they denied providing law enforcement with these inconsistent amounts.

II.

Certiorari should be denied because there is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's findings of deficient performance where counsel failed to object when the prosecutor took Respondent's laptop bag from the defense table and used it during her examination of Investigator Clarke, and where Respondent has shown prejudice.

Certiorari should be denied because there is evidence to support the PCR court's finding that counsel was ineffective, since counsel did not object when the solicitor grabbed Petitioner's bag off the defense table and "paraded" it before the jury, despite the fact that the bag was not in evidence. The jury's lengthy deliberations (four hours), its request to rehear Rabia's testimony, and its request to be recharged on reasonable doubt support the PCR court's finding of prejudice in this close case. "The appropriate scope of review of this Court is that 'any

evidence' of probative value is sufficient to uphold the PCR judge's findings." *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989) (citing *Webb v. State*, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984)).

Deficient performance

Defense counsel did not object when Solicitor Campbell walked up to the defense table, picked up Respondent's black laptop bag from beside him, showed it to the jury, and elicited testimony from the investigator that the bag used by Respondent in court was "[e]xactly" like what "Ms. Rabia Nathani described him pulling the gun from." App. 505, ll. 23-25; App. 511, ll. 1-16. This was not a strategic decision. Counsel admitted she was "caught off guard" by the solicitor's actions. Counsel testified that she "should have objected" because the bag "wasn't in evidence." App. 1409, ll. 1-9; App. 1495, l. 7 – 1496, l. 4.

It was improper to present the bag to the jury since the bag was not in evidence. "In jury cases, proceedings shall be conducted, to the extent practicable, so as to prevent inadmissible evidence from being suggested to the jury by any means, such as making statements or offers of proof or asking questions in the hearing of the jury." Rule 103(c), SCRE. *See also Chandler v. People's Nat. Bank of Greenville*, 140 S.C. 433, 138 S.E. 888, 890 (1927). "Preliminary questions concerning . . . the admissibility of evidence shall be determined by the court[.]" Rule 104, SCRE.

The PCR judge's finding this was deficient performance is supported by probative evidence. Counsel should have objected to the solicitor's outrageous conduct²⁶ in taking an item from defense table that was not in evidence and then presenting the item to the jury. A party may

²⁶ Consider a reversal of the circumstances: Had a defense lawyer walked up to a prosecutor's table, picked up a victim's purse from beside the victim, waved it around in front of the jury, and talked about it with a witness, it is inconceivable that the prosecutor would not have objected. And yet, defense counsel inexplicably did not do so here under nearly identical circumstances.

not show something to the jury until it has been admitted. Rule 103(c), SCRE; Rule 104, SCRE. The judge obviously would have sustained the objection on the ground that Respondent's bag was not in evidence, as evidenced by his later ruling during closing argument that the defense could not present to the jury other laptop bags that were not in evidence.

The State argues in its petition for writ of certiorari that it is unclear what objection the PCR court believed counsel should have made at trial. *See* State's PWC at 23. However, the order clearly refers to the objection that the item was not in evidence. Defense counsel testified at the PCR hearing she should have objected because the bag was not in evidence. Defense counsel's hindsight on the proper objection is confirmed by the trial judge's ruling during closing arguments that defense counsel could not present laptop bags that were not in evidence.²⁷

Secondly, the State argues the use of Respondent's bag by the prosecution was not foreseeable. *See* State's PWC at 23. It certainly should have been foreseeable, given that defense counsel had discovery which mentioned the perpetrator carried a gun in a laptop bag, and counsel heard testimony from Rabia that the perpetrator pulled a gun out of a black laptop bag. Regardless, once the solicitor picked up the bag, counsel should have objected. Part of being a competent trial lawyer is dealing with matters as they arise—jury trials are inherently unpredictable.

Next, the State argues there was no deficiency because counsel "articulated a strategy" (i.e., counsel's unsuccessful attempt to use other laptop bags that were not in evidence

²⁷ Another objection that could have been made was a Rule 403, SCRE, objection, since the prosecutor's conduct and her exchange with the investigator were likely to unfairly prejudice Respondent, mislead the jury, and confuse the issues, and the bag had no probative value since it had not been admitted into evidence. *See* Rule 403, SCRE: "Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence."

during closing argument). *See* State’s PWC at 23 – 24. This argument is without merit and is not supported by the record. Counsel did not articulate a strategy. Counsel testified she should have objected, and she testified her failure to do so was not strategic: “I was caught off guard.”

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees an accused the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). “In order to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must prove: (1) counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms; and (2) counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced the applicant’s case.” *McKnight v. State*, 378 S.C. 33, 40, 661 S.E.2d 354, 357 (2008) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88.

“The appropriate scope of review of this Court is that ‘any evidence’ of probative value is sufficient to uphold the PCR judge’s findings.” *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989); *Webb v. State*, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). The Supreme Court “will uphold the findings of the PCR judge when there is any evidence of probative value to support them.” *Suber v. State*, 371 S.C. 554, 558, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007).

There is evidence of probative value to support the judge’s decision that counsel’s performance fell below the range of required competence when she failed to object to the solicitor’s outrageous conduct of using an item not in evidence as if it were in evidence before the jury. Trial counsel admitted she should have objected. Rule 103, SCORE; *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88; *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626.

Prejudice

Under the second prong of *Strickland*, a PCR applicant “must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” *Johnson v. State*, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997).

“In determining whether the applicant has proven prejudice, the PCR court should consider the specific impact counsel’s error had on the outcome of the trial.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 188, 810 S.E.2d 836, 843 (2018) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695-96). “In addition, the PCR court should consider the strength of the State’s case in light of all the evidence presented to the jury.” *Id.*, citing *Jones v. State*, 332 S.C. 329, 333, 504 S.E.2d 822, 824 (1998). “In general, the stronger the evidence presented by the State, the less likely the PCR court will find the applicant met his burden of proving prejudice.” *Id.*, citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 696.

This case came down to identity. The lineup shown to the girls was highly suggestive, since it admittedly contained five photographs of strangers and one photograph of a person the girls knew: Respondent. The defense argued the identifications were tainted by the girls speaking with their father before identifying the robber as “Amp” to law enforcement. Also, although Rabia called the perpetrator a “customer” of her father’s to 911, she and the other complainants all referred to Respondent as a man who did “business with” Nathani rather than as a customer when they were not being led by the solicitor. (Respondent sold things to Nathani rather than bought them.)

Respondent put up several alibi witnesses who said he was at work when the robbery was committed. Dr. Dawn McQuiston, an expert in eyewitness identification from Wofford, provided

the jury with factors that could result in erroneous identifications and those factors were present in this case: cross-racial identification, the presence of a weapon, and high-stress circumstances. The jury deliberated for four hours, it asked to rehear Rabia’s testimony, and it asked to be recharged on reasonable doubt. On these facts, it would not have taken much to tip the scales. *See Martin v. State*, 427 S.C. 450, 457, 832 S.E.2d 277, 280 (2019) (citing *Lounds v. State*, 380 S.C. 454, 463, 670 S.E.2d 646, 651 (2008), to illustrate that “a jury’s questions during deliberations—asking to rehear testimony and jury charges—indicated they were struggling with several aspects of witnesses’ accounts,” and supported a finding of prejudice).

Considering the strength of the State’s case, there is a reasonable likelihood the impact of counsel’s error affected the outcome of the trial. *Smalls*, 422 S.C. at 188, 810 S.E.2d at 843. “Any evidence” of probative value is sufficient to uphold the PCR judge’s findings. *Cherry*, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624; *Webb*, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839. Respectfully, certiorari is not warranted here.

III.

Certiorari should be denied because there is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court’s finding of deficient performance where counsel failed to cross-examine the complainants regarding their prior inconsistent statements and impeach them with those statements if necessary, and where Respondent has shown prejudice.

Certiorari should be denied because there is evidence to support the PCR court’s finding that counsel was ineffective, since counsel failed to bring to the jury’s attention inconsistencies regarding the make and model of the perpetrators’ car, whether the girls were already home or just returning home when they spotted the robbers, and the value of the items stolen. The record also supports a finding of prejudice in this close case. “The appropriate scope of review of this

Court is that ‘any evidence’ of probative value is sufficient to uphold the PCR judge’s findings.” *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989) (citing *Webb v. State*, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984)).

Deficiency

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